























































































































































































































































































































IX
THE ARCHAEOLOGY OF OGOF YR ESGYRN (THE BONE CAVE)

About 43m. above the mouth of the great cave of Dan-yr-Ogof is a group of small caves of which the
largest is Ogof-yr-Esgyrn, once known as Yr Ogof (Plate 55). Thus the farm was known as "Dan-yr-Ogof”,
literally below the cave, and so later was the river cave itself. This group of small caves forms part of the old
river levels before the Llynfell, a tributary of the Tawe, cut its present channel in the ravine below.

Ogof-yr-Esgyrn is a single chamber, about 18.3m. wide and 10.9m. deep entered by a low tunnel.
People lived there nearly 3,000 years ago, not long after the first metal objects (of the alloy, bronze) were in-
troduced into Wales and again during the early part of the Roman occupation and then towards the end of the
Roman period. Not only did people live there in Roman times, but they also buried their dead in the cave and
it is for this reason that the cave bears its present name.

The first known excavation were carried out in 1923 by a party of students from the University Col-
lege of South Wales and Monmouthshire in conjunction with the National Museum of Wales, under the direction
of Mr. R.H. D'Elboux. They dug several pits in the cave and found early and late Roman pottery, a ring of
twisted silver, two bronze rings and an iron ring. Roman bone pins, a coin (a third brass of Constantinopolis),
remains of hearths and fragmentary bones of a man, woman and child. Mixed with the relics were the bones of
farm animals, some apparently split to get at the marrow.

No further excavations were done until 1938 (Plate 56) and from then until 1950 excavations were
carried out over the whole of the cave by Mr. Edmund J. Mason of the Mendip Exploration Society, later the
South Wales Caving Club, the largest and oldest caving club in South Wales and still very active in the area.
Other experts who associated themselves with the work were Mr. (now Professor) W.F. Grimes, then of the
National Museum of Wales and who was later associated with the Saxon Ship Burial Excavation at Sutton Hoo
and the Mithras Temple Excavation in the City of London; Mrs. Audry Williams, then of Swansea Museum and
Dr. Hubert Savory of the National Museum of Wales, all of whom did very active digging in the cave. In 1939,
the excavation was visited during the British Speleological Association’s Conference by many of the leading
archaeologists in Britain and abroad.

The excavation was not easy. The floor was strewn with boulders, the earth was often muddy and
unpleasant to handle and had to be dried out before it could be sieved. The stalagmite crust, which had to be
broken in places sometimes involved many hours with sledge hammers and rock chisels. Sometimes large rocks
several feet square, which had fallen from the roof in historic times, had to be raised with the help of teams
from the South Wales Caving Club. At one point, the floor was covered by a rock so large that it had to be
blasted. Underneath were two Roman coins, one with the remains of linen, too fragmentary for preservation,
adhering to its underside — the remains of the bag in which the coins had been kept. The cave floor was exca-
vated square yard by square yard, each with separate identification letters, so that the position of each ob-
ject could be carefully recorded.

In one corner was a deep pocket of sand, the principal burial place in the cave. A human jaw, found
at the base of the boulders which had been piled over it, gave an indiction of what was to follow. Skeleton
after skeleton came from the pit. It was as much as carpenters could do to knock together the boxes in which
to seal and carry them across the steep scree slope above the Show Cave approach. At that time there was no
covered way to the entrance to the Show Cave, and it was difficult for four or more men handling a six foot
container to keep their feet while they struggled in the loose scree, trying to avoid rolling boulders, down to
the approach to the Show Cave. The date of the pit to Roman times was easily ascertained, as some of the
skeletons had brooches of Roman date and the pit contained the first coin found in the 1938-1950 excavations,
a sestertius of Trajan (97 A.D. — 115 A.D.).

Apparently, when the pit was full up, other burials were made at various places in the shallow soil
covering the stalagmite floor and then covered with boulders. About 40 people, men, women and children
were buried in the cave. Old burial places must have been subsequently lived on, since some bones had been
charred by hearths. The ash from hearths covered practically the whole floor except where stalagmite slopes
and bosses made both living and burial impossible. With the hearths were the fragments of pottery jars and
dishes which had been broken and discarded. Here and there were found bone pins, bone needles and bronze
awls which had been lost in the cracks in the rocks. Sometimes the people lost coins. Nine of them were found
in various places and, with pottery, provided valuable dating material for the occupation.

Generally the objects were richer than one would expect from a community living in such a primitive
dwelling. Indeed what was such a community doing with a seal box, a small locket-like container used for
sealing when despatching messages, an object more likely to be found in villas, towns and military establish-
ments. Were they an impoverished community who had seen better days? Were they in hiding? Or had some of
the objects come their way as loot? It is quite common to find people in Roman times living in caves, but their
goods are usually inferior to those found in Ogof-yr-Esgyrn.

To understand what kind of people lived in Ogof-yr-Esgyrn in Roman times, we must understand
what is meant by the word “Roman” in this context. There were probably very few Romans in the true sense
— people from Rome or indeed from Italy — during the Roman occupation in the British Isles. A Roman was
a member of the Roman Empire, as the Empire was large, a Roman in the widest sense could be of any origin
much in the same way as a member of the British Empire in its heyday could be of any colour and still be



British. The Roman army of the West was essentially Western European in origin — Spanish, Germanic, Gallic,
etc. all using their native languages with Latin as a language common for army and administrative purposes. Be-
yond the military lines of defence, the policing of turbulent territories could be done by auxiliaries often made
up of ““native’’ troops, people who knew the country, much in the same way as is done today. Even more non-
Roman in the strictest sense were the people of the towns and villages for these were the “local’’ people, the
early Celtic settlers, in fact the early Welshmen. They were the people iiving here before the Roman Conquest
during the Early Iron Age, the Ancient Britons of the old history books. Many of them were fine metal workers
in bronze, iron and more precious metals. They farmed the land and could weave and dye cloth. The country
was divided into petty kingdoms or tribal territories. In South Wales lived the Siluries. As the people came
under Roman influence they became ““Romanised’’. Some lived in cities, provided as a result of Roman policy.
Well-to-do farmers lived in villas, which often also provided accommodation for his farm labourers. Administra-
tion continued to be in the hands of the old fuling class under ““Romanised’’ conditions, subject to the policy
of Roman organisation. The people were basically, therefore, the same as in the Early Iron age and as they were
not true Romans in origin, we usually prefer to call them Romano-British. Some accepted “Romanisation” for
such improvements as it gave to their way of life, others were more turbulent and did not accept it easily, as was
the case in the Welsh mountains. The pottery and articles at Ogof-yr-Esgyrn indicate that the inhabitants were
““Romanised”” but how deep this went is difficult to judge.

The earliest people found, those of the Bronze Age, were not so numerous as those occupying the cave
in Roman times, in fact very few pottery vessels are represented and no bones, as far as we know. Although the
occupation by Bronze Age dwellers was probably only by a few people and of very short duration, they left
some interesting articles behind, a gold bead, the only gold article found in the cave, a bronze “razor” (although
it is not known whether such objects were really used for that purpose) and the blade of a bronze short sword
or dirk, belonging to sometime between 1000 B.C. and 800 B.C., a double edged weapon which is part way be-
tween a dagger and a sword. The one found at Ogof-yr-Esgyrn was about 343mm. long. When the dirk was dis-
covered, it was found that a rabbit had been burrowing in recent times and become impaled on or trapped by
the point of the dirk and had died there. The weapon had proved lethal long after its original owner had lost it!

The Bronze Age people were the people living in the British Isles before the arrival of the Early Iron
Age people. Just as the Early Iron Age people introduced the use of iron, the Bronze Age people brought with
them the first organised knowledge of metallurgy in Britain, but iron was still unknown and although a few
objects were made of copper most of the metal objects were made in bronze. Gold was often used for decorative
purposes and farming was already known before the arrival of the first Bronze Age people. With them we asso-
ciate the round burial mounds, so common on Salisbury Plain and stone circles such as Avebury and Stone-
henge. To them probably belonged the Saithmaen, a group of stones on the Cribarth near Ogof-yr-Esgyrn, the
stone circle below the Fan and several standing stones and certain other remains in the neighbourhood.

E.J.M.

This chapter is reprinted, with permission, from the Dan yr Ogof Cave Guide. A fuller account of the 1938-1950
Excavations is contained in “‘Archaeologica Cantabrica” 1968. Further work commenced in the Autumn of 1976 under the
direction of Ted Mason and initial results were rewarding. Major efforts will re-commence from Easter 1977 and assistance
will be welcomed.

X

FUTURE PLANS
It is hoped that this publication will act as a stimulant for further exploratory and scientific efforts

in the Dan yr Ogof area. These may well prove or disprove some of the hypothesis herein but of much greater
importance is the need for there to be a high degree of co-ordination of such activities and the recognition that
without conservation and care much that we do now may impede the work of future generations of speleologists.

Many experts have expressed interest in Dan yr Ogof either actively or as “back-room boys” and it
is hoped soon to launch a new programme of co-ordinated activities. The S.W.C.C. committee and the Dan yr
Ogof directors support the concept and it is hoped that many cavers and scientists will support the ongoing
programme. While the leader system operated by S.W.C.C. will still operate it is relevant to point out that there
are many “‘guest leaders”” drawn from other clubs. They have rights of access similar to those of S.W.C.C.
leaders except that they are not permitted to lead other visiting clubs. However, it is hoped that the guest
leaders and their own clubs will play an active role for Dan-yr-Ogof is not, as has sometimes been suggested,

a "closed shop”’.

Plans include a detailed programme of exploration (with a careful log of progress being kept together
with indications of further possibilities), surveying, hydrology, archaeology, bio-speleology, geology and geo-
morphology. Hopefully the results of these future explorations will make this Transactions look like a prelimi-
nary note, and will provide the material for many future publications.

A.C.C.
Alan C. Coase, D.M. Judson,
The Manor, Bethel Green,
Thornbridge Hall, Calderbrook Road,
Great Longstone, Littleborough
Near Bakewell, Lancs.

Derbyshire.
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The TRANSACTIONS OF THE BRITISH CAVE RESEARCH ASSOCIATION covers all aspects
of speleological science, including geology, geomorphology, hydrology, chemistry, physics, archaeology,
and biology in their application to caves, as well as technological matters such as exploration, equipment,
surveying, photography and documentation. Papers may be read at General Meetings held in various
parts of Britain, but they may be submitted for publication without being read. Manuscripts should be
sent to the Editor, Dr. T. D. Ford, Geology Dept., University of Leicester, Leicester LE1 7RH, who
will be pleased to advise in cases of doubt about the preparation of manuscripts. The Transactions is
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